THE ROLE OF FRANK LYON AND HIS ASSOCIATES
IN THE EARLY DEVELOPMENT OF ARLINGTON COUNTY

By

RuTtH P. ROSE

When Frank Lyon moved to Alexandria, later Arlington, County near
the turn of the century, he moved to a sparsely settled area with the ad-
vantages of easy access to the District of Columbia and great potential for
land development. Access to Washington was somewhat hampered, how-
ever, by the gambling interests in Rosslyn, a less than tranquil community
which provided an undesirable atmosphere for teetotalers such as Frank
Lyon. Lyon bought the Rosslyn Monitor, joined the campaign to clean up
Rosslyn, and proceeded to become one of the leading land developers in
the County.

The family from which Frank Lyon was descended was established in
Virginia in 1730. Frank’s grandfather, Daniel Lyon, was a general con-
tractor and builder in Petersburg. His father, John Lyon, was a lawyer,
practicing in Petersburg until 1875 when he moved to Richmond. During
the Civil War, John was in the office of the Advocate General of the Con-
federacy. In 1889, he moved to Washington where he was an attorney
in the land office until his death in 1897.

John Lyon’s wife was Mary Margaret Springs of Charlotte, North Caro-
lina. The couple had four children, Mary, Agnes, LeRoy, and Frank.

Frank Lyon was born in Petersburg, Virginia, on December 30, 1867.
He was educated in Richmond public schools, graduating from high school
in 1884. After attending Richmond College for eighteen months, Lyon
began working as a clerk for the Richmond and Danville Railroad Com-
pany in Charlotte, North Carolina. He was later transferred to Richmond,
where he became private secretary to one of the railroad officials. In 1886,
Southern Railroad was formed and Frank Lyon went to Washington to
work in the offices of the new company.

On June 1, 1887, Lyon became private secretary to Walter L. Bragg
of Alabama, a commissioner with the newly formed Interstate Commerce
Commission, Later, Lyon became official stenographer with the ICC,
where he remained until 1899,

While working for the ICC, Lyon attended night sessions of the George-
town University Law School. During this period, Mrs. Lyon read Black-
stone aloud to him whenever possible, allowing him to rest his eyes. A
member of the Richmond chapter of Beta Theta Pi, he received a Bache-
lor of Laws in 1889 and a Master of Laws in 1890. After finishing his
legal training, Lyon served for two years, beginning in 1900, as an expert
stenographer for the Constitutional Convention of Virginia. Then he began
to practice law in Alexandria County.
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which at present lies north of Pershing Drive and southeast of Clarendon
Circle. Later, Moore sold his interest in Moore’s Addition to Clarendon
to Frank Lyon, who then formed his own development firm.”

R. W. Moore was a Fairfax native who was Assistant Special Counsel
of the Associated Railways and Steamship Companies of the South in
matters before the ICC and the courts. In 1918, Mr. Moore became a
judge; then, in 1919, he took his seat as Representative from the Eighth
Congressional District to the Congress of the United States.®

Frank Lyon’s next venture into land development was on a tract of land
in the Clarendon area which was subject to litigation in chancery, result-
ing in a court order that the land be sold at public or private sale. Frank
Lyon offered $500 an acre, or a total of $6,269 for the property. His
offer was accepted and, on April 6, 1904, he acquired 12.538 acres
of the property while .94 acres went to the W.A., and F.C. Railway
Company. The property was adjacent to that owned by Charlotte L. Drain
on the southeast side of the Georgetown Road and north of the George-
town Road and Ball’s Lane intersection.® The property became known as
Lyon’s Addition to Clarendon.

When Frank Lyon sold a lot in Moore’s Addition to Clarendon or in
Lyon’s Addition to Clarendon, the deed would often bear the stamp of
Lyon’s attitude toward liquor. The buyer would agree that “liquor shall
never be sold or dispensed on the property or from any building erected
thereon, nor shall said property be used for the conducting of any business
that constitutes a nuisance to other Jot owners in the subdivision, such as
a soap factory or like industry.” 1® The character of the subdivision was
often affected by a clause restricting future owners of the property and
another clause placing a floor on the cost of the building to be erected.
For example, a 1919 deed to property in Moore’s Addition to Clarendon
reads, in part, “neither said property nor any part thereof nor any interest
therein shall be sold or leased to any one not of the Caucasian race, nor
shall any house costing less than $2,000 other than an outbuilding, be
erected thereon.” *

In 1907, Commissioner Franklin K. Lane of the ICC appointed Frank
Lyon to the semi-judicial position of examiner, a position to be held until
1912 when he resigned to begin practice exclusively before the Interstate
Commerce Commission, specializing in matters concerning steamship lines
and coal companies.*?

7 Mr. Smith.

8 History of Virginia, VI, p. 395.

9 Alexandria County Deed Book 108, p. 563.
10 Alexandria County Deed Book 110, p. 262.
11 Alexandria County Deed Book 165, p. 20.
12 History of Virginia, VI, p. 123.
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andria and Chain Bridge Road, now Glebe Road, there were five larger
lots.t?

Frank Lyon and his family lived at Lyonhurst until 1923. Margaret
Lyon was married to Charles Watson Smith on the large brick plaza be-
tween the house and the tower. The young couple lived near the gate in
a small house which Lyon built for them.

Charles Watson Smith was born in New Castle, Pennsylvania, one of
eight children. While in high school, he spent his summers working in local
tin mills. After graduation, he took a job with the Carnegie Steel Company
in order to earn money for college. He then went to the University of
Chicago to study astronomy, but he decided to change to law. Going to
Washington, he worked in the reading room of the Library of Congress
while attending the law school of George Washington University. After his
graduation in 1913, Mr. Smith worked as a lawyer in the Land Office of
the Department of the Interior. He became a special agent for the General
Land Office at which time his base was first in Colorado and then in New
Mexico. In 1917 Mr. Smith resigned as a special agent for the General
Land Office to come east and marry Margaret Lyon, whom he had met at
Lyonhurst in 1915. He became a law partner of Frank Lyon and was later
made secretary-treasurer of Lyon’s development firm.

Frank Lyon’s development firm originally bore his own name only, later
becoming Lyon and Fitch, when C. Walton Fitch became a partner in
1920. The name changed to Lyon and Fitch, Incorporated, with Charles
Smith serving as treasurer, and, finally was known as Lyon Properties, In-
corporated. Mr. Lyon worked full-time at his law practice in downtown
Washington, stopping at the Virginia real estate office on the way to town.
Fitch, Smith, and later, Lawrence Michael, spent long hours working at
the land development office.

C. Walton Fitch was a member of an old Georgetown family. He was
a graduate of Cornell University and had been an army engineer during
World War 1, attaining the rank of lieutenant colonel. Finding himself
without a job at the end of the war, he accepted Frank Lyon’s offer with
the development firm, taking over land sales. Fitch was married to Frank
Lyon’s niece, Margaret Lyon Parham. Their daughter, Mrs. Charles Suter,
is a resident of Arlington County. Fitch built a house in Lyon Park at the
corner of the intersection of what is now Pershing Drive and Edgewood
Street. The firm’s office was behind the house, on the site of the filling
station now found northwest of the intersection of Washington Boulevard
and Pershing Drive.

Fitch left Lyon’s business early in the depression and went to Chi-
cago to become the Director of Exhibits for the Chicago World Fair. After
the fair closed, he remained in Chicago as manager of the Museum of
Science and Industry.

13 Alexandria County Deed Book 115, p. 202.
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Lyon Park was provided with sewers and cement sidewalks. Gas and
electricity were provided by the Rosslyn Gas Company and the Arlington
Electric Company. Water was provided by individual wells pumped by
electric motors. Fire protection was provided by local Clarendon fire com-
panies.

The pamphlet stated that Clarendon and Lyon Park had excellent
schools and churches of every denomination. Dental clinics were provided
by the County Health Office.

The cost of building sites depended upon the number of lots purchased.
No less than two lots with fifty foot frontage was sold to each buyer. The
lots were priced from $350 to $500 each on a deferred payment plan of
about $10.00 per month. A reduction was offered for cash.

Some houses were built by Lyon and Fitch, others by the owners. A six~
room house with four lots would cost about $9,000. All plans had to be
approved by the firm’s architects. Financial connections were Citizens Na-
tional Bank of Alexandria, the Arlington Trust Company of Rosslyn, and
the Federal National Bank of Washington.

In the mid-1920s, Mr. Smith, as a representative of the Lyon firm, paid
$600 for property owned by a ward of the state. The purchase was made
in order to provide land for the construction of a road in the Lyon Park
area. Mr. Smith relates that Representative Moore arranged for the War
Department to build the road. Captain Herbert C. Whitehurst was the
captain of the Corps of Engineers for the War Department, and Moore
named Smith his representative in negotiating with Captain Whitehurst.
The road was later named Washington Boulevard. In “The Renaming of
Arlington Streets,” C. L. Kinnier reported that before the Arlington Coun-
ty streets were renamed around 1930, Military Road ran from Highway
Bridge (14th Street Bridge) through the Washington-Hoover Airfield,
across military property around the south wall of the cemetery, through
Fort Myer to Hatfield, from there along Washington Avenue parallel to
the Washington-Alexandria Railroad to Clarendon and thence to Falls
Church.®

After the development of Lyon Park was completed, around 1922, Frank
Lyon looked for more land to develop. Mr. Smith helped Lyon locate the
Cruitt or Mackall tract adjoining Clarendon. Lyon arranged a meeting
with Chapin Brown, the attorney handling the property, at the Cosmos
Club in Washington. Lyon gave Brown a check for a down payment of
$5,000 on the 162 plus acres for which Smith had made an offer of $175,-
000. Lyon then began laying out subdivisions but on June 24, 1922, Judge
Samuel G. Brent issued a restraining order blocking further development
until a dispute over ownership of the property was settled in court. The

21 Arlington Historical Magazine (1959), p. 43.
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and a cupola on the Hickory Hill house and there was a spring house for
storing dairy products.

Financial reverses of the depression resulted in dissolution of the firm
of Lyon and Fitch. Ballantrae was sold and the Fitches moved away.
Frank Lyon moved into Hickory Hill, removing the porches and cupola.
The Smiths moved into Washington, D.C. The firm of Lyon Properties,
Incorporated, continued into the 1940s, and the Lyon Village shopping
center and apartments are still owned by members of the Lyon family.
Frank Lyon continued to prosper as a lawyer, but the period of his great
contribution to the development of Arlington County had come to an end.
He lived the remainder of his life in houses in Fairfax County and Wash-
ington, dying in November, 1953.

The Arlington County which Frank Lyon knew when he arrived around
the turn of the century was greatly changed by the time of the depression
when his land development came to a halt. Much of the character of the
County by 1930, especially in the areas of Clarendon and Rosslyn, was
due to the interests of Frank Lyon and his associates. Today, the lovely
communities of Lyon Park and Lyon Village reflect the way of life which
Frank Lyon must have envisioned when he started developing those com-
munities many years ago.
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